23-CF-0455



Clerk of the Court Received 01/10/2024 03:19 PM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

CLIFTON A. BROWNE *Appellant*

v.

UNITED STATES Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Case No. 2021-CF1-006943

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sean R. Day D.C. Bar No. 452420 6411 Ivy Ln Ste 304 Greenbelt MD 20770-1405 301.220.2270 Sean@DayInCourt.Net Attorney for Appellant

LIST OF ALL PARTIES, INTERVENORS, AMICI CURIAE, AND THEIR COUNSEL IN THE TRIAL COURT AND IN THE APPELLATE PROCEEDING

Party	Attorneys – Superior Court	Counsel - Appeal
Clifton A. Browne	Lisbeth Sapirstein Joseph W. Fay	Sean R. Day
United States	Dennis G. Clark, Jr. Lisa J. Lindhorst

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There was an altercation on September 28, 2021, between Clifton Browne and Luther Brooks; Brooks was removed from life support and died on October 8, 2021. Browne was charged on December 7, 2021; a single-count indictment for second degree murder was filed on June 9, 2022.

Following a jury trial before the Honorable Marisa J. Demeo, Associate Judge, from January 9 to 12, 2023, with jury deliberations on January 12, 17, and 18, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter.

On May 12, 2023, Browne was sentenced to 11 years incarceration. Browne filed a notice of appeal on May 25.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Clifton Browne

Clifton Browne's 26-minute recorded telephone interview with police was put into evidence. (Government Exhibit 21.)¹

On September 28, 2021, Browne, 56 years old, 5'4" and 150 pounds (1/11/23 a.m. at 94), went to the home of Valerie Mann, the best friend of Browne's aunt, to help her get her home ready for sale. The basement of the home was occupied by a holdover tenant, Luther Brooks, 75 years old but described as tall and weighing close to 200 pounds. (1/11/23 p.m. at 94-95, 59-60.) Brooks was still physically capable, doing "spin" exercise classes, working as an Uber driver, doing handyman work, and was even learning the trade of installing solar panels on roofs. (1/10/23 at 95-96, 146-47.)

Browne and Mann went downstairs to Brooks's basement unit for Mann to show Browne what work needed to be done. Mann knocked on the door, announced herself, and inserted the key. Brooks exited the door and swung a stick at Mann (described as a closet pole, 1/10/23 at 82); Browne pushed Mann out of harm's way, received the blow, and fell to

¹ Details in this section are from the telephone interview except where cited.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

the ground. Browne got up and began fighting with Brooks in the hallway, which carried into Brooks's unit. Browne believed that Brooks was intending to kill him and so Browne "went into self defense mode." The

two men were "rumbling" with Browne ultimately getting on top of Brooks and beating him. Browne then carried Brooks outside and tossed him to the ground as Brooks continued fighting ("He was steady fighting, said he wanted to go some more.")

Mann called 911, an ambulance took Brooks to the hospital, and Mann told police that Brooks fell down the stairs.

Valerie Mann

Valerie Mann picked up Browne at a Metro station and on the drive to her home told Browne about Brooks dragging his feet in vacating the basement unit. (1/10/23 at 156.) Browne suggested Brooks was taking advantage of her because she was a woman, and offered to talk to Brooks "man to man." (156)

At the house she heard Browne kick the interior basement door and Brooks shouting from inside. (161) Brooks opened the door armed with the stick (4 to 4.5 feet long and 2 inches diameter) and shoved it into 23-CF-0455

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

8

Browne's chest "pretty hard," causing Browne to fall backward. (161-63) Browne and Brooks were cursing and screaming at each other. (167-68) When Mann got to the basement unit, Browne was on top of Brooks and she pulled Browne off of Brooks. (169, 172) Browne took Brooks outside and Brooks was initially sitting up but fell backward. (178)

Mann testified that she initially believed Brooks suffered minor injuries, and told police that Brooks fell in order to protect Browne, who was her best friend's nephew and was his elderly father's caretaker. (182) After hearing from Brooks's daughter about the severity of Brooks's injuries, Mann contacted the police detective to give a new statement. (201-4)

Jennifer Price

Jennifer Price lived opposite the back alley. (1/10/23 at 109.) She heard cursing and fighting, and saw a man, about six feet tall, wielding and swinging a 2x4 at the exterior basement door. (111-12, 124-27) She then saw the man enter the residence through the upper back door. (131)

Autopsy

According to the forensic pathologist, Brooks suffered a nondisplaced lower-back fracture, rib fractures, bruises, abrasions, and a skull fracture. The skull injury caused bleeding and swelling in the brain which the witness determined to be the cause of death. (1/11/23 p.m. at 40-56.)

Ruling on the Use of Convictions for Impeachment

The defense filed a *Motion in Limine to Limit Impeachment of the Defendant* (01/09/23) to bar the impeachment use of Browne's Maryland convictions for second degree assault (from 1998, 2005, 2006, and 2012). (R. tab-22/e-94.) The trial court recognized that the convictions could not be used for impeachment if the trial were in Maryland, or in the present case if the convictions were for the equivalent crime in the District. (1/11/23 p.m. at 15-16.) Nonetheless the trial court ruled that the court was required by statute to allow the use of the convictions for impeachment. (1/10/23 at 235 (advising parties of outcome); 1/11/23 p.m. at 4-18 (providing reasons for ruling.)

Decision Not to Testify

Following the trial court's ruling on the impeachment use of the convictions for second degree assault, Browne elected not to testify. During the *Boyd* inquiry the trial court reiterated that if Browne chose to testify, the jury would hear about the prior convictions. (1/11/23 p.m. at 89-92.)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in concluding that second degree assault in Maryland, which is the equivalent of simple assault in the District, is an impeachable conviction. The only difference is the penalty, which has no relation to the veracity involved in the underlying conduct. Allowing impeachment use of a Maryland conviction — that cannot even be used for impeachment in a Maryland courtroom — but not the equivalent District conviction, is an absurd and plainly unjust result, which was expressly rejected by the legislative committee report.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in ruling that the Maryland second degree assault convictions could be used for impeachment.

Standard of Review

"[A]ny controversy over the use of prior convictions will pose a legal question for appellate review not dependant on a trial record." *Butler v. United States*, 688 A.2d 381, 393 (D.C. 1996).

A defendant is not required under certain circumstances to testify in order to preserve the issue for appeal. For instance, where the trial court has made a definitive ruling on the use of convictions for impeachment that will not change depending on subsequent evidence or the defendant's testimony. *Haley v. United States*, 799 A.2d 1201, 1208 (D.C. 2002); *Wilson v. United States*, 691 A.2d 1157, 1158 n.3 (D.C. 1997).

The deprivation of the right to testify is a structural error, or in the alternative, the equivalent of a structural error because it denies the defendant a fundamental right and is not amenable to review for harmlessness. *See Arthur v. United States*, 986 A.2d 398, 413-16 (D.C. 2009).

Argument

The trial court erred in ruling that the convictions for second

degree assault in Maryland could be used for impeachment.

D.C. Code §14-305(b)(1) requires allowing the impeachment use of

certain prior convictions:

[F]or the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, evidence that the witness has been convicted of a criminal offense shall be admitted if offered ... if the criminal offense (A) was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which he was convicted, or (B) involved dishonesty or false statement (regardless of punishment).

The trial court ruled that the convictions could be used under subsection

(A) because the crime at issue is punishable with up to 10 years

imprisonment.

Other than the penalties, Maryland's second degree assault and the District's simple assault are equivalent. Under the Maryland statute, "[a] person may not commit an assault." Ann. Code of Md., Crim. Law § 3-203(a). "'Assault' means the crimes of assault, battery, and assault and battery, which retain their judicially determined meanings." Md. Crim. Law § 3-201(b). The judicially-determined meanings include battery, attempted battery, and intent to cause fear of battery. *Watts v. State*, 457

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Md. 419, 435, 179 A.3d 929, 938 (2018). Maryland second degree assault is thus a run-of-the-mill assault and covers any unlawful touching (or intent to cause fear of unlawful touching). *Wiredu v. State*, 222 Md. App. 212, 218, 112 A.3d 1014, 1017 (2015) ("Second-degree assault is a statutory crime that encompasses the common law crimes of assault, battery, and assault and battery."); *United States v. Royal*, 731 F.3d 333, 342 (4th Cir. 2013)

("Maryland's second-degree assault statute reaches any unlawful touching, whether violent or nonviolent and no matter how slight."). Second degree assault is a misdemeanor punishable by up to 10 years imprisonment and/or a fine of \$2,500. Md. Crim. Law § 3-203(b).

Second degree assault is thus the equivalent of simple assault in the District under D.C. Code §22-404 ("Whoever unlawfully assaults ...")

Simple assault is not an impeachable offense because it does not carry a penalty of more than one year and does not involve dishonesty. D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1); *Harris v. United States*, 618 A.2d 140, 147 n.11 (D.C. 1992); *Jones v. United States*, 131 U.S. App. D.C. 88, 402 F.2d 639, 643 (1968) ("[C]rime of assault is only remotely, if at all, probative on the issue of veracity.")

In Maryland, second degree assault is not an impeachable offense,

23-CF-0455

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

either. "There is no basis in logic to say that a propensity to engage in fisticuffs amounts to a predilection to lie." *State v. Duckett*, 306 Md. 503, 512, 510 A.2d 253, 258 (1986).

The trial court recognized that the convictions could not be used for impeachment in Maryland courts, and that convictions under the parallel statue in the District could not be used in the District. Thus, under the trial court's interpretation, if John Doe and Richard Roe are caught in a melee on Eastern Avenue, and John Doe is convicted for punching a person on the District side while Richard Roe is convicted for punching a person on the Maryland side, John Doe does not have a conviction that can be used for impeachment in the District or Maryland, while Richard Roe has a conviction that can be used for impeachment in the District but not in Maryland (*where the offense occurred*). That Maryland saw fit to have more room for punishment for assault has no rational connection to any impeachment value.

The trial court concluded that this outcome was neither absurd or plainly unjust. *See, e.g., George v. Dade*, 769 A.2d 760, 762-63 (D.C. 2001) ("[T]he plain words of a statute must be followed unless the clearly expressed intent of the legislature reveals ambiguities or the plain

15

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

language leads to absurd or plainly unjust results.") It is difficult to comprehend how the interpretation is *not* absurd and/or plainly unjust.

Congress did not intend this absurd and plainly unjust result. Rather, the House Committee Report stated the intention that crimes of passion and short temper, "such as assault," would not be used for impeachment. See Williams v. United States, 337 A.2d 772, 775 (D.C. 1975), discussing House Committee Report No. 91-907 (March 13, 1970). Congress did not review Maryland's second degree assault statute and decide that such convictions could be used for impeachment; rather it enacted a rough one-size-fits-all provision presumably based upon the general rule at the time that if the potential penalty was more than one year, the crime was a felony not a misdemeanor. 18 U.S.C. § 1, repealed by Public Law 98-473 § 218, 98 Stat. 2027 (Oct. 12, 1984), provided: "Notwithstanding any Act of Congress to the contrary: (1) Any offense punishable by death or imprisonment for a term exceeding one year is a felony. (2) Any other offense is a misdemeanor." The reason for mismatch between the crime of second degree assault and any rational use for impeachment was not a deliberative choice of Congress, but is caused by one particular statute in one particular state that Congress never considered and which contradicts

23-CF-0455

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

the intention stated in the House committee report. The outcome further contradicts appellate decisions in both Maryland and the District that ordinary assaults are not rationally used for impeachment.

Mechanical reading of D.C. Code § 14-305, as applied to Maryland's second degree assault, produces an absurd and plainly unjust result. The trial court erred in ruling that Browne's second degree assault convictions could be used to impeach him, causing his decision not to testify. Reversal and remand for a new trial is required.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.