BRIEF FOR APPELLEE



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-455

Clerk of the Court Received 03/11/2024 01:22 PM Filed 03/11/2024 01:22 PM

CLIFTON A. BROWNE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN DENNIS G. CLARK, JR.

- * PETER F. ANDREWS
 PA Bar # 329843
 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Peter.Andrews@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2021-CF1-6943

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Browne failed to preserve his claim that the trial court erred in ruling that his prior convictions for second-degree assault in Maryland could be used to impeach him. Accordingly, the claim should be treated as waived under this Court's decision in *Bailey v. United States*, 699 A.2d 392 (D.C. 1997). Although the issue is a purely legal one, the remaining Bailey factors weigh against Browne. Browne did not testify at trial; he did not proffer that he would have testified but for the trial court's ruling; and he did not proffer how his testimony would have differed from the recorded statement he gave to the police that was played at trial. Nor has he argued on appeal that his testimony would have been more likely to lead the jury to conclude that he acted in perfect self-defense. As a result, any harm to Browne from the ruling is purely speculative. Under these circumstances, Browne should not receive "the windfall of automatic reversal." Luce v. United States, 469 U.S. 38, 42 (1984).

Even if this Court were to consider the claim on its merits, however, it would fail. The trial court correctly applied the plain language of D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1)(A), which requires the trial court to admit a prior conviction to attack a witness's credibility if the criminal offense "was

punishable by . . . imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which he was convicted." Because Maryland second-degree assault is punishable by up to 10 years' imprisonment, Browne's convictions are admissible. That result is not unjust or absurd, and Browne's contrary arguments fail to overcome the plain meaning of the statute that Congress wrote and enacted.

In any event, even if the trial court erred, any error was harmless because it is highly improbable that the error contributed to the verdict. The jury acquitted Browne of second-degree murder but convicted him of voluntary manslaughter. Put another way, the jury evidently accepted that Browne acted in imperfect self-defense – i.e., he had an actual belief that he was in imminent danger and needed to use deadly force in order to save himself – but rejected his argument that he acted in complete self-defense – i.e., his belief was not objectively reasonable. Browne has not even asserted, much less demonstrated, that his trial testimony would have bolstered the *objective* reasonableness of his self-defense claim.

ARGUMENT

I. Browne Waived His Claim By Neither Testifying at Trial Nor Proffering That He Would Have Testified But For the Trial Court's Ruling.

This Court should hold that Browne waived his arguments about this impeachment evidence because he did not testify at trial, nor did he proffer that he would have testified but for the trial court's ruling on the prior convictions. Moreover, neither in the trial court nor on appeal has he proffered what his trial testimony would have been, or explained how it would have materially advanced his complete self-defense claim. This Court should decline to entertain his speculative argument.

A. Applicable Legal Principles

The Supreme Court has held that, in federal court, a defendant must testify to preserve a claim of improper impeachment with a prior conviction under Rule 609(a). Luce v. United States, 469 U.S. 38, 43 (1984). This rule is based on three key considerations: (1) the possible harm from such impeachment is "wholly speculative" if the defendant does not testify, (2) "a reviewing court cannot assume that the adverse ruling motivated a defendant's decision not to testify," and (3) allowing

defendants to preserve these claims without testifying would mean that "almost any error would result in the windfall of automatic reversal." *Id.* at 41–42. Justice Brennan concurred in *Luce*, explaining that it only addressed rulings that involved Rule 609(a) – impeachment with a prior conviction – and not other types of in limine rulings, including those "in which the determinative question turns on legal and not factual considerations." *Id.* at 44 (Brennan, J., concurring).

This Court "follow[s] the Supreme Court's holding in [Luce], subject to" Justice Brennan's concurrence. Bailey v. United States, 699 A.2d 392, 401 (D.C. 1997). In other words, this Court has not applied Luce as a hard-and-fast rule that a defendant must testify to preserve a claim of improper impeachment with a prior conviction under D.C.'s equivalent to Rule 609(a), D.C. Code § 14-305(b). See Haley v. United States, 799 A.2d 1201, 1208 (D.C. 2002) (defendant did not waive § 14-305 argument that presented "fundamentally a legal question"). So a pretrial in limine ruling may be ripe for review if it "turns solely upon a legal consideration on which the trial court has made a final ruling," and if the defendant's testimony "is not essential to preserve the purely legal issue for appellate review[.]" Bailey, 699 A.2d at 400 (quoting Wilson v. United States, 691

A.2d 1149, 1157 n.3 (D.C. 1997)). To make this determination, the Court examines (1) the speculative nature of the harm to the defendant, (2) whether the defendant would have testified, (3) whether the appellate court would be able to undertake a harmless-error analysis, and (4) whether the claim presents a purely legal issue. *See id.* at 401–02.

B. Browne Has Never Asserted that He Would Have Testified at Trial, So Any Harm to Him Is Speculative.

Three of the four *Bailey* factors point against Browne.⁶ Unlike in *Haley*, Browne has not shown, and the record does not suggest, that he would have testified at trial. *See Haley*, 799 A.2d at 1208 (defendant did not waive his claim even though he did not testify "particularly because it was bolstered by the proffer that [defendant] would have testified but for the threat of impeachment"). To the contrary, at no point did Browne affirmatively state at trial that he would have testified but for the trial court's impeachment ruling – even when he affirmatively informed the court that he would not be taking the stand (*see* 1/11/23 Tr. 2.89–92 (Boyd inquiry)). He also did not represent that he would testify in his pretrial

⁶ The government agrees that the application of D.C. Code § 14-305(b) is "fundamentally a legal question." *See Haley*, 799 A.2d at 1208.

motion (see R.23). "A reviewing court cannot assume that [an] adverse ruling motivated a defendant's decision not to testify." See Luce, 469 U.S. at 42.

Browne also has not proffered – either at trial or in this appeal – what testimony he would have offered at trial, or how his testimony would have been differed from his statements in his recorded police interview. And he has not explained how his hypothetical testimony would have advanced his defense at trial – complete self-defense. Because we do not know what his testimony would have contained or how it would have differed from his recorded police interview, any harm to him is highly speculative. *Cf. Bailey*, 699 A.2d at 401 (noting difficulty of conducting analysis "without knowing what [the defendant's] testimony would have been"). And it is also difficult to conduct a harmless-error review when the defendant has not explained (and the record does not reveal) how his testimony could have supported his trial defense.

Even if the Court were to speculate about what Browne would have testified to at trial, it is hard to see how Browne could have helped his cause by testifying because Browne did not need to testify to make out his self-defense theory. Complete self-defense permits an acquittal on a

homicide charge if a defendant shows (1) an actual belief both that he was in imminent danger of serious bodily harm or death and needed to use deadly force to save himself, and (2) that his belief was "objectively reasonable." Bellamy v. United States, 296 A.3d 909, 921 (D.C. 2023). Browne's perspective on the incident came in at trial through his recorded police interview. In that interview, Browne made statements that supported his self-defense claim. He described the victim coming out swinging a stick, striking Browne, and his subsequent snap into "selfdefense mode" (see Browne Int. Tr. 3, 8). Browne relied on those statements in his closing arguments (see 1/12/23 Tr. 76 ("Mr. Browne went into self-defense mode. He said that."), 86 ("[H]is story [in the police interview] is what happened. He's not making [it] up.")). And the jury ended up crediting his subjective perspective by acquitting him of seconddegree murder even as it convicted him of voluntary manslaughter. See Bellamy, 296 A.2d at 921 (imperfect self-defense requires defendant to show that his belief was "actually and honestly held"); see also R.33 (Browne's statement in his sentencing memo that "the jury arguably concluded that [Browne's] conduct amounted to imperfect self-defense").

When deciding whether to testify, then, Browne had to consider what could be gained from his testimony – and what could be lost. Not much could be gained; the most favorable version of events that he could tell had already been told to the jury through the police interview. But taking the stand would have carried serious risks even if his prior convictions were off the table. Browne might have testified inconsistently with his prior police statement, which would likely have undercut his credibility (or, at the very least, not boosted it). And it would have given the prosecution the opportunity to vigorously cross-examine Browne about the differences between his version of events and that of others who testified, including Valerie Mann. There was a real danger that, if Browne had taken the stand, the jury might have rejected his self-defense claim in its entirety, choosing to view Browne's actions as an enraged attack motivated by wounded pride rather than an honest but misguided attempt to defend himself. So it is not at all clear that fear of impeachment with his prior convictions was the motivating force behind his decision not to testify. See Bailey, 699 A.2d at 402 (noting other reasons the defendant may have decided not to testify).

Accordingly, Browne has not shown that he was going to testify, or even that he was likely to testify, and any harm to him is speculative at best. Under these circumstances, Browne failed to preserve his claim for appeal, and this Court should not award him with the "windfall" of a new trial. *See Luce*, 469 U.S. 38, 42.

II. The Trial Court Correctly Held That Browne Could Be Impeached With His Prior Convictions for Maryland Second-Degree Assault.

Even if Browne had preserved this claim, the trial court did not err in ruling that Browne's prior convictions for second-degree assault in Maryland could be used to impeach his credibility under D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1) (1/11/23 Tr. 2.15). Maryland second-degree assault is a crime punishable by more than one year in prison, so it could be used to impeach Browne. D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1)(A). Browne's attempts to attack the plain, unambiguous meaning of the statute are not persuasive.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

This Court reviews issues of statutory interpretation de novo. Porter v. United States, 769 A.2d 143, 148 (D.C. 2001). "In interpreting a statute, we begin with its text." Coleman v. United States, 202 A.3d 1127, 1139 (D.C. 2019). While "[t]he goal of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the purpose of the legislature," the "best evidence of that purpose is always the text of the statute itself." Cass v. District of Columbia, 829 A.2d 480, 486 (D.C. 2003); see also Sharps v. United States, 246 A.3d 1141, 1149 (D.C. 2021) ("the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that it has used" (cleaned up)). Courts apply the plain meaning of a statute "when the language is unambiguous and does not produce an absurd result." McNeely v. United States, 874 A.2d 371, 387 (D.C. 2005).

B. Browne's Convictions Were Admissible for Impeachment.

Under D.C. law, the trial court must allow a party to impeach a witness's credibility with evidence that the witness has been convicted of a criminal offense, if the criminal offense "(A) was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which he was convicted, or (B) involved dishonesty or false statement (regardless of punishment)." D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1).

The plain meaning of § 14-305(b)(1) is unambiguous, and Browne does not argue otherwise. There are two types of convictions that can be used for impeachment: convictions that were punishable by more than

one year in prison under the statute of conviction, and convictions that involved dishonesty or a false statement. This rule adopts "the weight of traditional authority" as to what crimes can be used for impeachment: "felonies generally, without regard to the nature of the particular offense, and of *crimen falsi* without regard to the grade of the offense." *See* Fed. R. Evid. 609, 1972 advisory committee notes ("This is the view accepted by Congress in the 1970 amendment of § 14-305 of the District of Columbia Code, P.L. 91-358, 84 Stat. 473."). Like the corresponding Federal Rule of Evidence, § 14-305(b)(1) defines a felony using "the congressional measurement of felony (subject to imprisonment in excess of one year) rather than adopting state definitions which vary considerably." *Id*.

With this understanding, Browne's convictions could be used for impeachment under § 14-305(b)(1). Under Maryland law, a second-degree assault conviction carries a penalty of up to 10 years' imprisonment. Md. Code § 3-203(b). In other words, Browne's convictions were "punishable by . . . imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which [Browne] was convicted." D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1).

Thus, these convictions would have been admissible to impeach Browne if he had testified, as the trial court concluded (1/11/23 Tr. 2.15).

C. Browne's Attempts to Overcome the Plain Meaning of the Statute Are Unpersuasive.

Browne argues that this straightforward application of the statute is "absurd and plainly unjust" because (1) the equivalent (simple) assault conviction in D.C. is not punishable by more than one year in prison and hence not impeachable, and (2) Maryland law does not permit a witness to be impeached by a second-degree assault conviction, in part because Maryland classifies second-degree assault as a misdemeanor (Appellant's Br. at 14–16). He also argues that the legislative history shows that Congress did not intend this result (*id.* at 16). These arguments are not persuasive.

Browne's first argument asks the Court to create a complex test that is at odds with the statutory text. The statute is unambiguous: all that matters is whether a conviction is punishable by more than one year's imprisonment "under the law under which [the witness] was convicted." D.C. Code § 14-305(b)(1). The text does not authorize or encourage a thorough analysis for out-of-the-District convictions along

the lines that Browne suggests, where the trial court would need to determine:

- 1. the equivalent offense under D.C. law,
- 2. whether a conviction under the equivalent D.C. offense would be admissible for impeachment under D.C. law, and
- 3. whether the conviction is admissible for impeachment under the other jurisdiction's impeachment laws.

This simply is not the statute that Congress wrote. And rewriting the statute is not necessary to avoid an unjust or absurd result because it is not unjust or absurd that a conviction in one jurisdiction could be treated differently in another jurisdiction. See United States v. Edmonds, 524 F.2d 62, 64–65 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (admitting conviction to impeach defendant's credibility even though "the ruling on [the conviction's] admissibility could have been entirely opposite" if the conviction had happened in D.C. rather than North Carolina). After all, Browne's second-degree assault convictions, even if not admissible in Maryland state court, would likely be admissible in federal court in Maryland. See Fed. R. Evid. 609(a)(1).7

⁷ Rule 609(a)(1) permits a criminal defendant to be impeached with a prior conviction "for a crime that, in the convicting jurisdiction, was punishable... by imprisonment for more than one year," if "the probative

value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the defendant." See Fed. R. Evid. 609(a)(1)(B).

Because Browne has not shown that the statute produces an absurd result, the Court should end its inquiry there. See Hargrove v. District of Columbia, 5 A.2d 632, 634 (D.C. 2010) ("if the plain meaning of statutory language is clear and unambiguous and will not produce an absurd result, we will look no further" (internal quotations omitted)); see also McGirt v. Oklahoma, 140 S. Ct. 2452, 2469 (2020) ("There is no need to consult extratextual sources when the meaning of a statute's terms is clear. Nor may extratextual sources overcome those terms.").

Even if the Court delved deeper, legislative history would not get Browne past the unambiguous text of the statute. True, the relevant House Report described the intent of the statute as excluding from impeachment offenses that are "primarily those of passion and short temper, such as assault." H.R. Rep. No. 91-907, 91st Cong., 2d Sess. 62 (1970) ("House Report"); see Durant v. United States, 292 A.2d 157, 160 (D.C. 1972) ("the sponsors of the legislation clearly intended that the offenses to be excluded are primarily those resulting from passion and short temper"). But the House Report also stated that impeachment should be allowed by "proof of any prior felony conviction." House Report at 61. At the time of the House Report, Congress defined a "felony" as any

crime punishable by more than one year in prison. See 18 U.S.C. 1, repealed by P.L. 98-473, 98 Stat. 2027 (Oct. 12, 1984). So the relevant House Report was, at most, ambiguous, as it did not resolve whether Maryland second-degree assault should be admissible for impeachment (because it is a felony, i.e., punishable by more than one year in prison) or inadmissible (because it is an offense of "passion and short temper"). Because the legislative history is "ambiguous and conflicting," it cannot "control the customary meaning" of the statute. See Peoples Drug Stores, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 470 A.2d 751, 755 (D.C. 1983) (declining to rely on ambiguous legislative history to look beyond the plain meaning of a statute).

III. Any Error Was Harmless Because the Error Did Not Influence The Verdict.

Even if the Court chose to entertain this claim and concluded that the trial court erred, Browne would not be due a new trial because the error almost certainly had no effect on the verdict. As explained earlier, Browne's testimony could only go to his *subjective* belief that he needed to use deadly force to defend himself, a belief already amply supported by other evidence in the record and ultimately accepted by the jury. There

is no reasonable likelihood – and Browne has not even attempted to offer one – that Browne's own trial testimony would have helped him show that his belief was *objectively* reasonable, i.e., that it was actually necessary for him to use the deadly force he did against the elderly victim. Accordingly, the jury's conviction on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter was not affected by Browne's decision not to testify.

A. Standard of Review

As with other rulings concerning the admission of impeachment evidence, the trial court's ruling here should be reviewed (assuming it is reviewable at all) for non-constitutional harmless error. *See Bennett v. United States*, 763 A.2d 1117, 1125 (D.C. 2000) (erroneous exclusion of impeachment evidence reviewed for non-constitutional error only).⁸

⁸ We note that even the erroneous admission of other-crimes evidence against a defendant is reviewed for non-constitutional harmlessness, see, e.g., Murphy v. United States, 572 A.2d 435, 439 (D.C. 1990), so it is difficult to see why the erroneous admission of mere impeachment evidence would be reviewed more stringently. Even if this Court were to apply constitutional harmless-error analysis, however, for the reasons discussed in text any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Williams v. United States, 858 A.2d 978, 981 (D.C. 2004) (constitutional harmless-error standard requires reviewing court to determine whether the government has shown beyond a reasonable (continued . . .)

Error is harmless if the reviewing court can say, "with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgement was not substantially swayed by the error." Kotteakos v. United States. 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946); Wonson v. United States, 144 A.3d 1 (D.C. 2016). The focus is "on the likely impact of the alleged error on the jury's verdict." Settles v. United States, 615 A.2d 1105, 1109 (D.C. 1992). If "the error did not influence the jury, or had but very slight effect, the verdict and the judgment should stand." Smith v. United States, 26 A.3d 248, 264 (D.C.2011) (quoting Kotteakos, 328 U.S. at 764).

_

doubt that "the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (quoting *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)).

⁹ Browne suggests that harmless-error review is inappropriate because "deprivation of the right to testify is a structural error" (Appellant's Br. 12). But the trial court's ruling did not *deprive* Browne of his right to take the stand even if it marginally increased the burden of doing so. Accordingly, this Court has not held that an erroneous decision to admit a defendant's prior conviction for impeachment is a denial of the right to testify, and it – like the Supreme Court – generally applies a harmless-error standard in such cases. *See Luce*, 469 U.S. at 43 (Brennan, J., concurring) (discussing "the required harmless-error determination"); *Bailey*, 699 A.2d at 402 (the question is "whether the error was prejudicial or harmless").

B. Browne's Decision Not to Testify Did Not Influence the Verdict.

Although the limited record presented by Browne here makes harmless-error analysis difficult – a reason weighing against this Court's entertaining the claim at all, see Bailey, 699 A.2d at 402 – what evidence there is strongly suggests that any error by the trial court could not have influenced the jury's verdict. Even assuming Browne would have testified at trial had he not been subject to impeachment with the prior convictions, there is no reasonable likelihood that his testimony would have changed the jury's verdict in his favor.

This conclusion flows logically and inexorably from Browne's theory of the case and the jury's actual verdict. Browne did not really dispute that he beat and killed the victim; rather, he claimed that he acted in self-defense. As discussed earlier and as relevant here, D.C. law recognizes two forms of self-defense. Complete self-defense permits an acquittal on a homicide charge if a defendant shows (1) an actual belief both that he was in imminent danger of serious bodily harm or death and needed to use deadly force to save himself, and (2) that his belief was "objectively reasonable." *Bellamy*, 296 A.3d at 921. Imperfect self-defense, on the other hand, reduces a murder charge to voluntary

manslaughter; the first prong is the same as for complete self-defense, but for the second prong defendant needs to show only that his belief was "actually and honestly held" rather than objectively reasonable. *Id*.

As discussed in Section I supra, the jury's verdict here logically rested on the second prong of self-defense. By acquitting Browne of second-degree murder but convicting him of voluntary manslaughter, it evidently concluded that Browne believed that he needed to use deadly force to save himself, but that his belief was merely "actually and honestly held" rather than objectively reasonable. In other words, the jury rejected complete self-defense but accepted imperfect self-defense. Browne argued as much in his sentencing memo (see R.33 ("the jury arguably concluded that [Browne's] conduct amounted to imperfect selfdefense")). And, as also noted above, the best evidence in support of this result at trial came from Browne's own statements to the police during his 26-minute recorded interview (see Browne Int. Tr. 8 (Browne's explanation that he was "in self-defense mode" after the victim hit him with a stick)).

In light of that factual background, it is hard to see how Browne's putative testimony could have advanced his defense with the jury. The

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